**RECEIVED**

**Sep 23 2025**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Oconee County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

JACOB D. DROTNING,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001438  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

MOLLY M. KEEGAN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

### I.

Whether the PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony because it allowed him to improperly give his opinion on the ultimate issue of petitioner's intent and where petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance?

### II.

Whether the PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony because his testimony exceeded the scope of his expertise, and thus, petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance?

## STATEMENT

In July of 2014, the Oconee County grand jury indicted petitioner for attempted murder and arson second-degree. App. 661-64. In May of 2015, the Oconee County grand jury indicted petitioner for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN) and malicious injury to property. App. 657-60. Thereafter, on October 17, 2016, petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. App. 1. Gregory Lee Cole, Jr., represented petitioner, and David R. Wagner and Lindsey Satterfield Simmons prosecuted the case. App. 1. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged. App. 1. Judge Sprouse sentenced Appellant to thirty (30) years for attempted murder, twenty (20) years consecutive for arson, ten (10) years concurrent for CDVHAN, and five (5) years concurrent for malicious injury to property. App. 456, ll. 12-24. After petitioner moved to reconsider his sentence, which was denied, he filed a timely notice of appeal. App. 459-61. Petitioner's convictions and sentence were ultimately affirmed. App. 462-95.

On September 12, 2019, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 497-503. On March 6, 2020, the state filed a return and motion for a more definite statement. App.504-13. Then, on February 22, 2023, counsel for petitioner, Susannah Ross, filed an amended PCR application raising, as relevant, ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to improper opinion testimony outside the scope of the witness' expertise. App. 514-16. On August 21, 2023, the state filed an amended return. App. 517-30. On September 16, 2024, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis. App. 531-88. Susannah Ross represented petitioner, and Talida Balaj represented the state. App. 531. On July 3, 2025, Judge Curtis signed an order denying PCR and dismissing petitioner's application with prejudice. App. 589-656. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

The PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony because it allowed him to improperly give his opinion on the ultimate issue of petitioner's intent and where petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance.

#### **Relevant facts**

##### *Trial*

During petitioner's trial on the charges of attempted murder, CDVHAN, arson second-degree, and malicious injury to property, the state presented evidence that Catherine Cook suffered third-degree burns to sixty percent of her body following the incident on May 16, 2014. App. 115, ll. 5-6; 119, ll. 19-20; 138, ll. 17-19; 306, ll. 20-23; 309, ll. 16-17. Specifically, Cook testified that petitioner was her husband, and they moved to South Carolina in 2013. App. 110, ll. 22-23; 111, ll. 1-2. She testified that concerning the incident, she remembered petitioner standing in the hallway, but he did not look worried or panicked. App. 115, ll. 14-21. She testified that she was "a little fuzzy on the details" concerning why she was in the hospital but knew that petitioner put her there. App. 120, ll. 5-8. On cross-examination, Cook agreed that she did not remember petitioner harming her on the night of the incident but testified that she saw him. App. 125, ll. 2-5. She did not see petitioner with a lighter or a gasoline can in his hand and did not see him pour gasoline on her or try to burn her. App. 125, ll. 6-17.

Further, as relevant, Dr. Joseph Robert Shaver, testified as an expert in critical care and internal medicine, without objection. App. 304, ll. 14-20. He explained that he was board certified in internal medicine and that critical care referred to a specialty of taking care of

patients who are critically ill and patients that had organ failure. App. 303, l. 11 – 304, l. 1. He treated Cook and was involved in helping her manage her organ systems. App. 305, ll. 15-25. He explained the degree of burns Cook suffered and the treatment of organ failure. App. 308, l. 1 – 313, l. 17. He also explained the process of debridement and grafting. App. 314, l. 21 – 322, l. 17. Particularly, after the state inquired whether Dr. Shaver thought that the gasoline burns were consistent with a self-inflicted burn, *see* App. 325, l. 4 – 326, l. 13, the state asked:

Q: In your medical opinion, if someone is doused in gas and lit on fire, does the actor *intend* to kill them?

A: I would think that the act would lead to death.

App. 326, ll. 14-17 (emphasis added). Trial counsel did not object to the state’s line of questioning or Dr. Shaver’s response. *See generally* App. 326.

The jury found petitioner guilty as indicted, and Judge Sprouse imposed a total sentence of fifty years’ imprisonment. App. 446, l. 5 – 447, l. 14; 456, ll. 12-24.

#### *Evidentiary hearing*

During his evidentiary hearing, petitioner testified that Dr. Shaver was allowed to testify without objection to the ultimate issue of intent. App. 557, ll. 12-15. Trial counsel agreed that he did not object to the expert testimony from Dr. Shaver concerning whether an actor intended to kill someone if they were doused in gas and lit on fire. App. 577, l. 24 – 578, l. 10. Trial counsel also agreed that intent to kill was the issue as to attempted murder and that specific intent to kill was an issue. App. 578, ll. 11-14. Finally, at the close of the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel argued that there was opinion testimony outside the scope of expertise, “especially to the ultimate issue.” App. 586, ll. 18-20.

### *The PCR court's ruling*

In the order of dismissal, the PCR court found as to the ultimate issue that “Dr. Shaver’s testimony was not a comment on the criminality or guilt of the person who committed this act against the victim, but merely a comment based on his experience that a death would result from being lit on fire,” similar to the facts in *Commander*<sup>1</sup> rather than *Westmoreland*.<sup>2</sup> App. 641. The PCR court found that Dr. Shaver’s testimony “did not give any indication of Dr. Shaver’s opinion as to the state of mind or the person who committed the act, but merely his opinion based on his medical experience.” App. 641. The PCR court ultimately determined that there was no meritorious basis for trial counsel to object to the testimony, and thus, petitioner could not show deficiency or prejudice as he failed to present sufficient evidence to prove either prong of the *Strickland*<sup>3</sup> test. App. 641-42.

Accordingly, the PCR court denied petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief and dismissed his application with prejudice. App. 656.

### **Discussion**

The PCR court erred by refusing to find that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony the state elicited from Dr. Shaver concerning whether an individual who doused someone in gasoline and lit them on fire intended to kill them, as it permitted an expert opinion on the ultimate issue of intent. Further, trial counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced petitioner.

---

<sup>1</sup> *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011).

<sup>2</sup> *State v. Westmoreland*, 421 S.C. 410, 807 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 2017).

<sup>3</sup> *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. A petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the petitioner. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Under the second prong, petitioner must show “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Thomson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 245, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492 (2018) (citing *Rutland v. State*, 415 S.C. 570, 577, 785 S.E.2d 350, 353 (2016)).

As a general rule, under Rule 704, SCORE, “testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact.” Rule 704, SCORE. “However, expert testimony on issues of law is usually inadmissible.” *Commander*, 396 S.C. at 264, 721 S.E.2d at 418 (citing *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 66-67, 580 S.E.2d 433, 437 (2003)). Importantly, the expert may not “opine on the criminal defendant’s state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law in such a way that the jury is not permitted to reach its own conclusion concerning the criminal defendant’s guilt or innocence.” *State v. Prather*, 429 S.C. 583, 604, 840 S.E.2d 551, 562 (2020) (citing *Commander*, 396 S.C. at 269, 721 S.E.2d at 421).

In *Commander*, the state elicited testimony from Dr. Nichols, an expert in forensic pathology, wherein Dr. Nichols testified that he felt they were dealing with a homicide. 396 S.C.

at 259, 721 S.E.2d at 416. Defense counsel objected to the testimony as an opinion constituting a legal issue since “homicide” implied criminal culpability and argued that the testimony concerning the cause and manner of death was inadmissible under Rule 702, SCRE. *Id.* After an exchange outside the presence of the jury, Dr. Nichols was permitted to testify that his definition of homicide was when a person died as a result of another person’s actions rather than an accidental or unintentional death. *Id.* at 259-260, 721 S.E.2d at 416. Further, on cross-examination, Dr. Nichols testified that he was “not claiming intent,” but rather that the death was the result of someone else’s actions. *Id.* at 260, 721 S.E.2d at 416.

Our Supreme Court explained that “[i]t is well established in South Carolina that a medical professional, qualified as an expert, may render an opinion concerning the scientific bases of a victim’s injuries or death in a criminal trial.” *Id.* at 265, 721 S.E.2d at 419. The Court determined that a qualified expert was permitted to testify about the cause and manner of death under Rule 702, SCRE. *Id.* at 266, 721 S.E.2d at 419. The Court continued, however, that “in certain circumstances, expert medical testimony of this type has the potential to invade the province of the jury.” *Id.* at 268, 721 S.E.2d at 420. The Court noted that other jurisdictions have considered where to draw the line and stated that “we tend to agree with those courts that have found that expert testimony addressing the state of mind or guilt of the accused is inadmissible.”

*Id.* In sum, our Supreme Court

adopt[ed] a rule whereby an expert in forensic pathology’s opinion testimony as to cause and manner of death is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, so long as the expert does not opine on the criminal defendant’s state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law in such a way that the jury is not permitted to reach its own conclusion concerning the criminal defendant’s guilt or innocence.

*Id.*

In *Westmoreland*, the coroner was offered as an expert in determining the manner of death, but the state ultimately withdrew its attempt to admit the coroner as an expert. 421 S.C. at 415, 807 S.E.2d at 704. The coroner testified as to his responsibilities as coroner which included determining any deceased's manner of death. *Id.* The coroner testified that homicide was "the intentional act of you taking the life of another." *Id.* at 416, 807 S.E.2d at 704. On appeal, the appellant contended that the coroner's testimony was impermissible opinion testimony by a lay witness and embraced the ultimate issue to be decided by the jury. *Id.* at 418, 807 S.E.2d at 705. The South Carolina Court of Appeals found that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the coroner's improper lay witness testimony in violation of Rule 701(a), SCRE. *Id.* at 418, 807 S.E.2d at 706. This Court disagreed with the state's argument that the testimony was properly admitted because "homicide" was a term of art that did not comment on the criminality of the deceased's death. *Id.* at 420, 807 S.E.2d at 707. This Court distinguished from *Commander* where under the circumstances of that case "homicide meant only that the victim died by the act, procurement, or omission of another, and did not comment on the criminality of the death." *Id.* at 420-421, 807 S.E.2d at 707 (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court determined that the coroner's lay testimony that the death was a homicide which was defined as an intentional act, "was an opinion on Appellant's state of mind, and, thus, his guilt under the circumstances of this case." *Id.* at 421, 807 SE.2d at 707.

In this case, trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's because the effect of Dr. Shaver's testimony was that it allowed the state to elicit testimony which provided an opinion on the ultimate issue of petitioner's intent. *See State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001) (explaining that the effect of a witness qualified as an expert in crime scene processing and fingerprint identification testifying as to his conclusion about the location

of the victim and position of his body allowed him to give his opinion on the ultimate issue of whether the appellant acted in self-defense). Importantly, petitioner was charged with attempted murder which requires the state to prove that petitioner had a specific intent to kill and placed his intent directly at issue. *See State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 70, 810 S.E.2d 18, 30 (2017) (stating that the offense of attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill). Because expert testimony on issues of law is usually inadmissible, and an expert may not opine on a criminal defendant's state of mind, trial counsel was similarly deficient for failing to object on this basis. *Commander*, 396 S.C. at 264, 721 S.E.2d at 418; *Prather*, 429 S.C. at 604, 840 S.E.2d at 562. In fact, during the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel agreed that specific intent to kill was at issue due to the attempted murder charge. App. 578, ll. 11-14. To that end, the PCR court erred by determining that Dr. Shaver's testimony did not comment on the criminality or guilt of the person who committed the act or give an opinion as state of mind. App. 641-42. The state expressly elicited testimony as to intent to kill where someone was doused in gas and lit on fire which allowed for an improper expert inference on the intent to kill. App. 326, ll. 14-17; *but see Commander*, 396 S.C. at 260, 721 S.E.2d at 416 (describing Dr. Nichols' testimony on cross-examination that he was "not claiming intent," whereas here no such clarification or qualification was made).

In addition, trial counsel did not articulate that his lack of objection to this testimony as violative of Rule 704, SCRE, was a strategic decision, and instead agreed that he did not object to the testimony and that intent was at issue due to the attempted murder charge. App. 577, l. 24 – 578, l. 10; 578, ll. 11-14; *See Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 384, 798 S.E.2d 561, 569 (2017) (explaining that "[a]s we have often stated, counsel's strategic decisions will not be found to be deficient performance if he articulates a valid reason for employing the strategy."). Therefore, trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony as violative of Rule

704, SCRE, because he was allowed to provide an opinion on the ultimate issue of intent and the PCR court erred by determining that counsel's performance was not deficient. App. 641-42; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

Petitioner was also prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance. Because intent was a central issue to petitioner's case, there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the result would have been different. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-118, 386 S.E.2d at 625; *Thomson*, 423 S.C. at 245, 814 S.E.2d at 492. Particularly, the jury was not presented testimony that petitioner lit Cook on fire during trial, and the testimony elicited by the state about the intent to kill of an actor who doused someone in gasoline and lit them on fire was critical to the state's case and ability to meet its burden to prove specific intent. App. 120, ll. 5-8; 125, ll. 2-5, 6-17; *see also* App. 586, l. 25. Without the improper expert witness testimony, there is a reasonable probability that the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt as to guilt, particularly related to petitioner's intent. *See Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695) (stating that the Supreme Court explained in *Strickland* that, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt."). Moreover, the improper testimony further prejudiced petitioner because it had the potential to invade the province of the jury and went to the crux of petitioner's case. *Commander*, 396 S.C. at 268, 721 S.E.2d at 420; *Prather*, 429 S.C. at 604, 840 S.E.2d at 562.

Accordingly, the PCR court erred by determining that petitioner could not show prejudice and failed to present sufficient evidence to prove either prong of *Strickland*. App. 641-42; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688.

## II.

The PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony because his testimony exceeded the scope of his expertise, and thus, petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *Evidentiary hearing*

During petitioner's evidentiary hearing, petitioner testified that, regarding the state's question as to whether an actor intended to kill, there was no objection made, and "Lee Cole was, it seemed like, just checked out." App. 556, l. 21- 557, l. 2. Petitioner testified that Cook testified at trial and did not state that he doused her in fire, instead she testified that she recalled petitioner standing in the house holding a gasoline can but was not attempting to harm her. App. 557, ll. 3-11. On cross-examination, he agreed that there were "a lot of experts testifying a lot of stuff. Some outside their scope, some not." App. 564, l. 25 – 565, l. 4.

Trial counsel then testified that "the circumstantial evidence and the evidence of the expert was, in [his] opinion, overwhelming." App. 566, ll. 13-16. He continued that as to witness testimony outside the scope of their expertise, he did not believe, based on the area the experts were qualified in, that there was a "basis to object to those couple of opinions that they had that are at issue." App. 569, ll. 3-19. On cross-examination, trial counsel agreed that he did not object to the expert testimony from Dr. Shaver concerning whether an actor intended to kill someone if they were doused in gas and lit on fire. App. 577, l. 24 – 578, l. 10.

At the close of the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel argued that there was opinion testimony outside the scope of expertise. App. 586, ll. 18-20. PCR counsel argued that Cook

had very little recollection of the incident or being set on fire. App. 586, ll. 21-25. PCR counsel emphasized that the jury heard no testimony that petitioner lit Cook on fire. App. 586, l. 25.

### *The PCR court's ruling*

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