RECEIVED

Mar 09 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari from the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Oconee County
Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001438

JACOB D. DROTNING,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

O. MCCONNELL HARISON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 107326

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

THE PCR COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO PROVE THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE AND PROPERLY FOUND THAT PETITIONER SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE FLOWING FROM THE LACK OF OBJECTION TO DR. SHAVER'S EXPERT TESTIMONY, AS THERE WAS NO LOGICAL REASON TO OBJECT CONSIDERING THE TESTIMONY DID NOT CONSTITUTE OPINION TESTIMONY OFFERED TO SHOW PETITIONER'S INTENT, NOR DID DR. SHAVER'S TESTIMONY EXCEED THE SCOPE OF HIS EXPERTISE.

On appeal, Petitioner contends that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's expert testimony. Specifically, Petitioner contends that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony regarding the outcome of lighting a person on fire with gasoline, as Petitioner alleges this testimony went towards his intent, and that the testimony exceeded the scope of Dr. Shaver's expertise. Petitioner asserts that he was prejudiced by Trial Counsel's constitutionally ineffective representation. However, Petitioner's claims are without merit. Respondent submits the PCR Court properly analyzed Trial Counsel's performance without the distorting effects of hindsight, finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Dr. Shaver's testimony, as there was no objectionable basis to do so. Respondent further submits that the PCR Court properly found that Petitioner suffered no prejudice, as without deficiency, prejudice cannot be reached. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee all criminal defendants the right to "assist[ance] by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). In post-conviction relief actions, the reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel's conduct "was so [ineffective] as to require reversal"

of the Petitioner's conviction. Id. at 687. To obtain relief, a post-conviction relief Petitioner must prove (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; *and* (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. 668). Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700; *see also* Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 695 (2002) (explaining that "[w]ithout proof of both deficient performance and prejudice to the defense, . . . it could not be said that the sentence or conviction resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that rendered the result of the proceeding unreliable" (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)).

Petitioner bears the heavy burden of establishing both prongs of the Strickland standard. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. To prove deficient performance, the Petitioner must establish that, in light of all the circumstances, the acts or omissions complained of "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" as measured by "prevailing professional norms." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. Reviewing courts should be deferential in this inquiry and apply "a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Id. at 689.

With respect to prejudice, the Petitioner must demonstrate "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694. A reasonable probability is a probability "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. When evaluating this probability, the reviewing court "should consider the specific impact counsel's error had on the outcome of the trial" coupled with "the strength of the State's case in light of . . . the [totality of the] evidence presented to the jury." Smalls, 422 S.C. at 188,

810 S.E.2d at 843. Significantly, "the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696.

RELEVANT TESTIMONY

TRIAL

On the third day of Petitioner's trial, the State called Joseph Robert Shaver, M.D. ("Dr. Shaver"), as an expert witness. At the time of his testimony, Dr. Shaver was employed at the Joseph M. Still Burn Center at Doctor's Hospital in Augusta, Georgia, for over twenty years. At the outset of his testimony, Dr. Shaver informed the Court of his background, training, education and experience regarding medical care. Dr. Shaver was declared an expert in internal medicine and critical care without objection. (App. pp. 303 – 304).

Dr. Shaver testified on direct examination that he was personally involved in the medical care and treatment for Cook, specifically in helping manage the consequential organ failures occurring caused by the severe burns to Cook's body. (App. pp. 305 – 306). Dr. Shaver testified generally regarding the calculation of percentages for burn injuries to the body, went into depth regarding the differences between first, second, and third-degree burns, and the common injuries caused by burns and risks associated with the different degrees of burns. Dr. Shaver testified that he works in the main unit at the burn center, where the most severe burn injuries are seen, and then patients proceed to step-down units upon successful recovery. During this testimony, Dr. Shaver stated that Cook suffered burns on sixty percent of her body, and that all the burns were third-degree. (App. pp. 306 – 309). Dr. Shaver testified that Cook suffered organ failure and was placed on continuous twenty-four-hour kidney dialysis, and then generally explains why organs in the body tend to shut down when faced with severe trauma. Dr. Shaver further testified that from the

initial meeting of Cook, he was having serious conversations with Cook's family about her injuries ultimately being fatal. (App. pp. 311 – 313).

Dr. Shaver testified that burns caused by gasoline are especially hard to treat due to it being a solvent that absorbs very quickly through a person's tissue and enters the person's fat cells. The solvent present in the person's system and fatty tissues causes further necrosis of the seemingly undamaged and healthier tissue following a debridement, which can cause severe infection. Dr. Shaver further testified that gasoline harbors a variation of different germs that can contribute to infection, and that debridement with gasoline burns can be especially difficult since it often requires extreme levels of excision of the damaged tissue, such that "you are not left with normal architecture of the human anatomy." (App. pp. 322 – 324).

Dr. Shaver testified that he has treated close to five thousand burn cases in his career since 1996. He testified that within the past five years, he has treated five patients with self-inflicted burn injuries; within the past fifteen years, he has treated 180 patients with self-inflicted burn injuries. Dr. Shaver testified that Cook's burn injuries were not consistent with being self-inflicted. When asked if Cook's injuries were consistent with a grilling accident, Dr. Shaver testified that her injuries were inconsistent with that set of facts considering most burn injuries from a grilling accident result in burn injuries to the frontal portion of the body, including the face, chest and arms. (App. pp. 324 – 326).

The State then asked Dr. Shaver:

Q. In your medical opinion, if someone is doused in gas and lit on fire, does the actor intend to kill them?

A. I would think that the act would lead to death.

(App. p. 326, ll. 14 – 17).

EVIDENTIARY HEARING

At Petitioner's evidentiary hearing for post-conviction relief, Trial Counsel was asked on direct examination if he saw any objectionable basis to the expert testimony presented by Dr. Shaver regarding the use of gasoline, or the expert testimony presented by trauma nurse Allison Lamb regarding whether Cook's wounds were self-induced. Trial Counsel testified that he did not see an objectionable basis to that testimony, as both Dr. Shaver and Nurse Lamb were qualified as experts in their respective fields. Trial Counsel testified that Nurse Lamb was qualified in trauma nursing and her testimony was based on her experience in that field. Trial Counsel further testified that Dr. Shaver shared his experience with burn victims through the testimony presented at trial and based on that experience within an area which Dr. Shaver is qualified in. Trial Counsel testified that he did not see an objectionable basis to Nurse Lamb's testimony or Dr. Shaver's testimony. (App. p. 569).

Trial Counsel further testified on direct examination that he hired an arson investigator to be called as an expert for Petitioner's case. Trial Counsel stated, however, that upon the investigator's review of the evidence in full, the investigator informed Trial Counsel that the evidence completely supported the State's case and that his testimony would not be helpful to Petitioner at all. (App. pp. 569 – 570).

On cross-examination, the following colloquy occurred between Trial Counsel and PCR Counsel:

Q: All right. And I don't want to go back through everything, but just one issue as to the – what I would argue was expert testimony as to the ultimate issue on page 326, line 14. I'm going to let you look at that. This is from the – I believe it was from the doctor. The question was, in your medical opinion, if someone is doused in gas and was lit on fire, does the actor intend to kill them. And the doctor responds, yes. That would lead to death. Correct?

- A: Yes. That's a paraphrase, I believe. Yes.
Q: And you didn't object to that?
A: No, I didn't.
Q: And that was the ultimate issue in the case was assault and battery with intent to kill.
A: Well, I would agree that was the issue as to attempted murder, and specific intent to kill was an issue.

(App. pp. 577 – 578).

During closing, PCR Counsel argued that there was “opinion testimony certainly outside of the scope of expertise, especially to the ultimate issue.” However, PCR Counsel only refers to the testimony presented by EMS witnesses regarding their interpretations of Cook’s statements made to them, and does not make reference to Dr. Shaver’s testimony. (App. p. 586 – 587).

"If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Rule 702, SCRE. An expert witness is not relegated to testifying to matters within his firsthand knowledge but may base his opinion on information made available to him prior to a hearing, so long as it is of the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field. Rule 703, SCRE. "An expert's opinion testimony may be based upon a hypothetical question." Gazes v. Dillard's Dep't Store, Inc., 341 S.C. 507, 534 S.E.2d 306 (Ct. App. 2000). "Even though the hypothetical question must be based on facts supported by the evidence, counsel may pose the hypothetical on any theory which can reasonably be deduced from the evidence and select as a predicate for it such facts as the evidence proves or reasonably tends to prove." Gazes, 341 S.C. at 514-515, 534 S.E.2d at 310, citing Gathers By & Through Hutchinson v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co., 311 S.C. 82–83, 427 S.E.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1993) (internal quotations omitted).

"Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." Rule 704, SCRE. "Such testimony is admissible, so long as the expert does not opine on the criminal defendant's state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law in such a way that the jury is not permitted to reach its own conclusion concerning the criminal defendant's guilt or innocence." State v. Prather, 429 S.C. 583, 840 S.E.2d 551 (2020) (citing State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 269, 721 S.E.2d 413, 421 (2011)).

Petitioner cites State v. Westmoreland² to support his argument. In Westmoreland, the State attempted to qualify a coroner as an "expert in determining the manner of death". Following a colloquy with the Court, the State withdrew its attempt to qualify the coroner as an expert. The coroner proceeded to testify as to his job duties, which he testified included determining any deceased person's manner of death. The coroner testified as to the definition of homicide, stating it is "the intentional act of you taking the life of another". Id. at 416. The coroner then stated that he ruled the case as a homicide. The defense objected to this, stating that the coroner offered improper lay opinion testimony. The Court overruled the objection, stating, "I think coroners are required to give rulings on death by law". Id. at 416. On direct appeal, it was argued that the coroner gave impermissible opinion testimony by a lay witness because he was not qualified as an expert, and his opinion that the victim's death was a homicide embraced the ultimate issue decided by the jury, causing extraordinary prejudice considering an accident defense was presented at trial. The Court of Appeals found that the coroner's testimony constituted improper opinion testimony that was directed at the Appellant's state of mind and guilt. Id. at 425.

² State v. Westmoreland, 421 S.C. 410, 807 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 2017).

The Westmoreland Court contrasted its holding with the Supreme Court's holding in Commander³, noting, "The [Supreme C]ourt explained, under the circumstances of that case, homicide meant only that the victim died by the act, procurement, or omission of another and did not comment on the criminality of the death." Westmoreland, 421 S.C. at 420–21, 807 S.E.2d at 707.

In Commander, the State called a forensic pathologist as an expert witness, and the pathologist testified that the victim's manner of death was asphyxiation. The State asked the pathologist regarding his preliminary conclusion of the victim's cause of death. The pathologist stated that given the suspicious circumstances surrounding the victim's death, he "felt that [they] were dealing with a homicide". 396 S.C. at 259, 721 S.E.2d at 415. Defense counsel objected, asserting the pathologist's definition of homicide constituted an opinion towards a legal issue surrounding criminal culpability, which led to a discussion of the pathologist's definition of "homicide" outside of the jury's presence. Id. The Court ultimately allowed the pathologist to present his testimony to the jury regarding his definition of homicide. On cross-examination, the pathologist testified, "I'm not claiming intent. I'm claiming that [victim] died as a result of somebody's actions." Id. at 260. On appeal, it was argued the trial court erred because the pathologist's testimony was opinion not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge that would assist the jury in understanding the evidence or in determining a disputed fact. Id. at 262. The Court of Appeals ultimately held that the admission of the disputed testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. Id. at 272.

³ State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011).

Our Supreme Court has held that, “it is well established in South Carolina that a medical professional, qualified as an expert, may render an opinion concerning the scientific bases of a victim’s injuries or death in a criminal trial.” Id. at 265. The Supreme Court has recognized that in certain circumstances, “expert medical testimony of this type has the potential to invade the province of the jury” and tends to agree with the jurisdictions that have held expert testimony addressing the state of mind or guilt of the accused is inadmissible. Id. at 268.

Petitioner also cites State v. Ellis⁴ in support of his argument. Ellis involves a crime scene processor that was deemed qualified as an expert but exceeded his scope of expertise by testifying to factors in crime scene reconstruction. The processor was improperly permitted to give his conclusion to the jury as to whether the defendant was acting in self-defense based on the data he collected at the crime scene, exceeding his scope of expertise by offering opinion testimony directly to the primary issue in the case, therefore invading the province of the jury. Id. at 179.

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